RECEIVED

02-08-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2015AP2052-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KENNETH M. ASBOTH, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District IV, Affirming a Judgment Entered in the Dodge County Circuit Court, the Honorable John R. Storck, Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

> > ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

Law enforcement officers arrested Kenneth Asboth at a private storage facility. The car he had been driving was parked in the lane between rows of storage units, in front Mr. Asboth's leased unit. The officers seized the car, towed it to a police station, and searched it.

I. Must a community-caretaker impoundment of a vehicle be governed by "standard criteria" limiting the discretion of law enforcement officers and, if so, was the impoundment here made in accord with such criteria?

The circuit court and court of appeals both held the law enforcement agents acted in accord with standard criteria.

II. Does the Constitution require the state to show that a community caretaker impoundment and search is not a pretext concealing criminal investigatory motives? Was the impoundment here a valid, non-pretextual community caretaker action where the vehicle was parked at a private storage facility and thus posed neither a threat to public safety nor a traffic hazard?

The court of appeals held that "even a strong investigatory motive" does not invalidate an otherwise valid community caretaker seizure. Both the circuit court and court of appeals found the impoundment and search to be valid community caretaker actions.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for cases decided by this court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Based primarily on eyewitness and photographic evidence, police suspected Mr. Asboth of robbing a bank in Beaver Dam. (1). The robbery had been accomplished with the aid of what appeared to be a handgun. (1:2).

About a month after the robbery, the Fox Lake police received a tip that Mr. Asboth was at a storage facility. (38:60). Though the facility was outside the jurisdiction of Beaver Dam, both sheriff's deputies and Beaver Dam police responded. (38:38, 62). The first officer to arrive, a sheriff's deputy, saw a man, who turned out to be Mr. Asboth, standing outside a car parked in the lane between rows of storage units and reaching into the back seat. (38:61). The officer took Mr. Asboth into custody at gunpoint but without incident. (38:61-62). Mr. Asboth was handcuffed and placed in the back of a squad car. (38:62). The bases for Mr. Asboth's arrest were a probation warrant, as well as suspicion that he had committed the robbery. (38:37-38; 38:61, 65, 91).

The car he had been reaching into was not registered to Mr. Asboth. (38:38, 63). Its registered owner had apparently sold it to Mr. Asboth but the DOT had not been appropriately notified. (38:17). The officers on the scene discussed what to do with Mr. Asboth's car. A sheriff's deputy testified it was decided that the vehicle should be removed because: [i]t wouldn't have been able to remain there regardless. It was in—in an area that would have been blocking at least—right in the middle of the lane between the two buildings. It would have been blocking three or four different—or access to three to four different units.... Or at least it would have blocked free access.

(38:63). At a subsequent hearing, the same deputy agreed that the alley in which the car was parked was "maybe about three car lengths or widths, maybe more" across. (78:17). He also testified that there were not any "No Parking" signs. (78:24). The car was not blocking traffic; the deputy testified that "[y]ou could drive around it" though "[i]t would cause a restriction to the storage units." (78:24). Two pictures of the car as it was positioned are in the record. (52:18; 70; App. 126).

None of the officers on the scene recall speaking with Mr. Asboth about whether he could arrange to have someone pick up the car. (38:65-66; 78:14, 23, 49). Nor did they contact the owner of the property to see whether the owner wanted the car removed. (78:23). It was ultimately determined that the car would be towed to the Beaver Dam police station.

At the first hearing on suppression, Beaver Dam Police Detective Corey Johnson testified that he had made the towing decision:

- Q: Did you call in for it to be towed somewhere else or--?
- A: Yes. Well, they called me in. I made the decision; yes.

(38:52). However, at a hearing nine months later, Johnson altered his story:

- Q: And did you—Detective, did you have a—some decision making authority as it related to where Mr. Asboth's vehicle would go that day?
- A: Are you asking if I wanted it impounded, or not?
- Q: Yeah.
- A. No.
- Q. Okay. Did you receive any direction from any other Beaver Dam Officer as to who should impound the vehicle or what department should impound the vehicle?
- A. I, I was notified that Mr. Asboth was arrested. That his vehicle was going to be impounded and towed.

I ultimately did have a telephone conversation with Lieutenant Loos from the Sheriff's Department. He, he had voiced his concern that they did not have room for the vehicle. So since it was a Beaver Dam case that we were investigating for the armed robbery, the vehicle was brought to Beaver Dam.

- Q. Do you—I mean, was there someone specifically who made that decision in your Department as to that it be brought to Beaver Dam?
- A. I had a conversation with him that I was basically told it was coming to Beaver Dam because they did not have the space.
- Q. Okay. Did you specifically order Mr. Asboth's vehicle be towed to the Beaver Dam Police Department rather than the Dodge County Sheriff's Department?

A. No, that is absolutely not true. Actually during my conversation with Lieutenant Loos, I did discuss with him the potential of the vehicle being towed to their facility.

(78:65-66).

Once the vehicle arrived at the Beaver Dam police station, officers searched it. (38:45). A pellet gun appearing similar to that used in the robbery was found in the spare tire compartment in the trunk. (38:45-46). The search also revealed a video game system in the trunk and a cell phone in the center console next to the driver's seat. (38:48). The officers conducting the search testified that they considered it to be an inventory search, and conducted it according to their inventory search procedures (38:71-77; App. 115-121), though one officer conducting the search filled out a form indicating it was done for "evidence" rather than the other possible purposes including "abandoned," "parked in traffic," or "safekeeping." (37; 38:79). The same officer later claimed that his checking of the box was done after the search and did not reflect his actual motivation for performing the search. (78:55-60; App. 143-48).

Mr. Asboth moved to suppress the gun on the ground that the search of the vehicle was not a valid inventory and violated the Fourth Amendment. (28). After a hearing and briefing, the court issued a memorandum decision denying suppression. (38; 39; 40; 44). The court concluded that the search was reasonable, stating that "the vehicle could not be left where it was and needed to be impounded ... the officers believed that the vehicle belonged to someone other than the Defendant [and] [i]t is undisputed that Beaver Dam police conducted the inventory search according to established procedures." (44:2; App. 123).

Mr. Asboth filed a motion for reconsideration, arguing that the court had erred in its decision as to the inventory search and also alleging that the car had not lawfully been impounded. (52). The court heard additional evidence and ultimately issued an order confirming its previous denial of suppression. (87). It stated the following conclusions:

- (1) Both the Dodge County Sheriff's Department and the Beaver Dam Police Department's written policies favor impoundment in this scenario. (The Court agrees with the State's analysis of those policies).
- (2) The vehicle was parked on another individual's property, not legally parked on a public street.
- (3) The vehicle was blocking access to more than one of the business's storage lockers and impeding travel by other customers through the complex.
- (4) There were valuable items in the vehicle including electronics.
- (5) Defendant was arrested while in possession of the vehicle and was actually observed reaching into the vehicle.

In light of these facts, the Court agrees with the State that, "when the police arrest a person who has driven a vehicle onto private property other than their own, leaving that vehicle behind and making its removal the property owner's problem is unreasonable." The Court finds that removal under these circumstances is a valid community caretaker function.

(87:2; App. 125).

Mr. Asboth ultimately pled no contest to armed robbery. (121:10). He attempted, unsuccessfully, to withdraw

this plea, and to pursue an interlocutory appeal of the denial of withdrawal. (122; 157; 167). The court sentenced him to 20 years of imprisonment, with ten years of initial confinement and ten of extended supervision. (175).

Mr. Asboth appealed the denial of his suppression motion, arguing that the seizure was not made in accord with standard criteria and was not a valid community caretaker activity. (234). The court of appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion. *State v. Asboth*, No. 2015AP2052-CR, 2016 WL 5416012 (Wis. Ct. App. Sept. 29, 2016); (App. 101-21).

ARGUMENT

Introduction and standard of review

There has never been any dispute that the impoundment of Mr. Asboth's vehicle was a seizure governed by the Fourth Amendment. See United States v. Duguay, 93 F.3d 346, 351 (7th Cir. 1996) ("Both the decision to take the car into custody and the concomitant inventory search must meet the strictures of the Fourth Amendment"). As he did in the court of appeals, Mr. Asboth submits that this seizure was unlawful for two independent reasons. First, it was not sanctioned by a departmental policy setting forth standard criteria cabining officer discretion. Second, under the circumstances as they existed at the time of Mr. Asboth's arrest—a car parked on private property, not blocking traffic and capable of being moved to a legal spot-there was not a valid community caretaker basis to tow the car to the police station.

This court reviews denial of suppression using a mixed standard, upholding the circuit court's findings of fact unless

clearly erroneous but applying constitutional principles to those facts *de novo*. *State v. Dumstrey*, 2016 WI 3, ¶13, 366 Wis. 2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502.

- I. Law enforcement officers do not have unlimited power to seize vehicles—their discretion must be cabined by established criteria, and the departmental policies here are insufficient.
 - A. To guard against unreasonable warrantless seizures, the Supreme Court has established that standardized criteria must govern vehicle impoundments

In *Colorado v. Bertine*, 479 U.S. 367 (1987), the Supreme Court upheld the search of a van pursuant to a police impoundment. In so doing, the majority opinion rejected the defendant's claim that the search was unconstitutional because departmental regulations permitted police either to impound his van or to park and lock it. The Court responded: "nothing in [*South Dakota v. Opperman*, 428 U.S. 364 (1976)] or [*Illinois v. Lafayette*, 462 U.S. 640 (1983)] prohibits the exercise of police discretion so long as that discretion is exercised according to standard criteria and on the basis of something other than suspicion of evidence of criminal activity."

With some exceptions, state and federal appellate courts have read *Bertine* to establish that impoundments and inventories must be governed by "standard criteria" in order to be constitutionally valid. *See*, *e.g. United States v. Duguay*, 93 F.3d 346, 351 (7th Cir. 1996) ("Standardized criteria or established routine must regulate inventory searches. Among those criteria which must be standardized are the circumstances in which a car may be impounded."(citation omitted)); *United States v. Petty*,

367 F.3d 1009, 1012 (8th Cir. 2004) (standard criteria or established routine is required); Miranda v. City of Cornelius, 429 F.3d 858, 863 (9th Cir. 2005) (same); United States v. Sanders, 796 F.3d 1241, 1249 (10th Cir. 2015) (impoundment on private property of vehicle not posing safety hazard or obstructing traffic must be justified by standard policy and community caretaker rationale) United States v. Proctor, 489 F.3d 1348, 1354 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (where a standard procedure exists, it must be followed); State v. Weaver, 900 P.2d 196, 199 (Idaho 1995); People v. Ferris, 9 N.E.3d 1126, 1137 (Ill. Ct. App. 2014) ("There must be a standard police procedure authorizing the towing of the car in the first place."); State v. Huisman, 544 N.W.2d 433, 437 (Iowa 1996); Patty v. State, 768 So. 2d 1126, 1127 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2000); Fair v. State, 627 N.E.2d 427, 433 (Ind. 1993); Com. v. Oliveira, 47 N.E.3d 395, 398 (Mass. 2016); State v. Robb, 605 N.W.2d 96, 104 (Minn. 2000); State v. Milliorn, 794 S.W.2d 181, 186 (Mo. 1990); State v. Filkin, 494 N.W.2d 544, 549 (Neb. 1993); People v. O'Connell, 188 A.D.2d 902 (N.Y. App. Div. 1992); State v. O'Neill, 29 N.E.3d 365, 374 (Ohio Ct. App. 2015); McGaughey v. State, 37 P.3d 130, 142–43 (Okla. Crim. App. 2001).

A few courts have rejected a "standard criteria" requirement for impoundments, notably the First, Third and Fifth federal circuits. These courts rely solely upon a general "reasonableness" test for impoundments. *United States v. Coccia*, 446 F.3d 233, 239 (1st Cir. 2006); *United States v. Smith*, 522 F.3d 305, 312–15 (3d Cir. 2008); *United States v. McKinnon*, 681 F.3d 203, 208 (5th Cir. 2012).

As the opinion below recognized, Wisconsin appellate courts have not expressly decided whether standard criteria must govern impoundments. *Asboth*, No. 2015AP2052-CR,

¶¶16-17; (App. 109-10). This court should conclude that they must, for several reasons.

First, as the Tenth Circuit noted, the notion that such criteria are *not* required "ignore[s] the plain language of *Bertine*, which holds that police discretion to impound a vehicle is constitutional only '*So long* as that discretion is exercised according to standard criteria." *Sanders*, 796 F.3d at 1248 (emphasis in original).

Second, requiring standard criteria for non-emergency impounds where traffic is not obstructed harmonizes *Opperman* and *Bertine*:

Bertine makes the existence of standardized criteria the touchstone of the inquiry into whether an impoundment is lawful. However, *Bertine* did not purport to overrule *Opperman*, and *Opperman* envisioned a situation in which an impoundment is immediately necessary, regardless of any other circumstances, in order to facilitate the flow of traffic or protect the public from an immediate harm.

Sanders, 736 F.3d at 1248-49.

Third, the standard criteria requirement "ensures that police discretion to impound vehicles is cabined rather than uncontrolled." *Id.* at 1249. As will be argued more fully below, police may not use impoundment and inventory as a pretext to search a vehicle for evidence of a crime. In the absence of clear rules for when a vehicle must or should be impounded, an arresting officer may be tempted to seize an arrested suspect's vehicle in order to justify its search, even where probable cause for a search is absent. As the Supreme Court stated regarding inventory searches in *Florida v. Wells*, 495 U.S. 1, 4 (1990), the standardized criteria requirement "is based on the principle that an inventory search must not be a

ruse for a general rummaging in order to discovery incriminating evidence." Particularly where, as here, the vehicle is on private property and is no threat to public safety, standardized criteria serve to safeguard the core Fourth Amendment protection against unreasonable, arbitrary, warrantless searches.

B. The officers' seizure of Mr. Asboth's vehicle was not governed by standard criteria within the meaning of *Bertine*.

When Mr. Asboth was arrested, his car was parked on the private property of the storage facility, in the lane between two rows of storage sheds in front of his own unit. There were no "No Parking" signs. (78:24). The lane was "maybe about three car lengths or widths, maybe more" wide, (78:17), thus "[y]ou could drive around" the car although "[i]t would cause a restriction to the storage units." (78:24). Two pictures of the car as it was positioned are in the record. (52:18; 70; app. 126). Though officers testified they knew Mr. Asboth's car was registered in someone else's name (38:38, 63), they did not give any reason to believe it was stolen, nor did they make any inquiries about Mr. Asboth's possession of the car or whether he had title.

The testimony was unclear as to which agency made the decision to impound Mr. Asboth's car. At one hearing, Detective Johnson of the Beaver Dam police said that he made "the decision," while at a subsequent hearing he denied it. (38:52; 78:65-66). Regardless, it is clear that it was the Beaver Dam police who ultimately took custody of the vehicle. Their written policy on impoundment is as follows:

> **Impoundment Generally**. Any officer having a vehicle in lawful custody may impound said vehicle. The officer will have the option not to impound said vehicle when

there is a reasonable alternative; however, the existence of an alternative does not preclude the officer's authority to impound.

(35:3; App. 129).

This is, to be sure, a concise policy. In fact it is so abbreviated that it amounts to no policy at all. The policy states that an officer may (though need not) impound a car when it is in "lawful custody"—but the entire point of "standardized criteria" is to establish *when* a vehicle may be taken into "custody." There, the policy has nothing to say: it completely begs the question. In contrast to *Bertine*, where police discretion was "exercised in light of standardized criteria, related to the feasibility and appropriateness of parking and locking a vehicle rather than impounding it," 479 U.S. at 375-76, the Beaver Dam policy gives police no guidance as to when to impound a vehicle.

In *State v. Clark*, 2003 WI App 121, 265 Wis. 2d 557, 666 N.W.2d 112, the state sought to justify an impoundment on the basis of the Milwaukee police's "safekeeping tow" policy, which provided in part that such a tow could be used when "a vehicle is to be towed and the owner/driver is unable to authorize a tow." 265 Wis. 2d 557, ¶6. The court of appeals responded that the policy

provides no guidance as to *why* or *when* an automobile may be towed for safekeeping. The policy states: "This tow category is to be used only when ... [a] vehicle *is to be towed* and the owner/driver is unable to authorize a tow." Basically, this states that "a vehicle is to be towed for safekeeping when a vehicle is to be towed." Because this subsection offers no insight into *why* or *when* a vehicle may be seized-only that if it has already been determined that a vehicle is to be towed, the officer may do so for safekeeping even if the owner is unable to consent-[it] is wholly unhelpful here.

Id., ¶15 (emphasis in original).

As in *Clark*, the Beaver Dam "policy" here is simply that an officer may take custody when he may take custody. The policy provides absolutely no "standard criteria" governing the decision to impound, effectively leaving the decision to the unfettered discretion of the officer. This is impermissible. *Bertine*, 479 U.S. at 375 (officer discretion permissible "so long as that discretion is exercised according to standard criteria").

The court of appeals determined, however, that the Sheriff's Department policy, rather than the Beaver Dam Police Department policy, was the relevant document. Its grounds for this conclusion were as follows:

> Asboth does not challenge factual findings of the circuit court, summarized above, regarding the seizure, which we conclude are more pertinent. To repeat, the court found that a sheriff's deputy arrested Asboth, that the storage facility where Asboth was arrested was outside of the jurisdiction of the city police department, and that, after making the mutual aid request, the sheriff's department asked the police department to temporarily house the car only because the sheriff's department lacked storage space for the car. Under these circumstances, we conclude that this was a seizure generated, and primarily directed, by the sheriff's department and therefore the county's policy is the applicable policy.

Asboth, No. 2015AP2052-CR, ¶14; (App. 108).

Contrary to the court of appeals, the circuit court made no finding that "the sheriff's department asked the police

department to temporarily house the car only because the sheriff's department lacked storage space for the car." (44; 87). There was inconsistent testimony on this point: Though Sheriff's Deputy Harvancik testified that "I believe we originally had called for the tow truck" because the vehicle "couldn't remain" where it was (38:63-64), he later denied having "any decision making process as it related to the impounding of that vehicle on that day." (78:14). The other sheriff's deputy on the scene likewise denied having decided to impound the car. (78:26). The only person who ever (inconsistently) testified to having made the decision was Detective Johnson of the Beaver Dam police, who at one hearing said that he made "the decision," and at a subsequent hearing he denied it. (38:52; 78:65-66). The circuit court did not resolve this ambiguity, instead simply holding that "[b]oth ... polices favor impoundment in this scenario." (87:2; App. 125).

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