In The Supreme Court of Wiskinsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

KENNETH M. ASBOTH, JR., DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER.

On Appeal from the Dodge County Circuit Court, The Honorable John R. Storck, Presiding, Case No. 2012-CF-384

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

RYAN J. WALSH Chief Deputy Solicitor General Counsel of Record

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 walshrj@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-1332

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under the community-caretaker doctrine of the Fourth Amendment, "[t]he authority of police to seize and remove . . . vehicles impeding traffic or threatening public safety and convenience is beyond challenge." Opperman, 428 U.S. at 369. Under this Court's doctrine, impounding a vehicle is reasonable when it is a "bona fide community caretaker activity" and when "the public need" for the seizure outweighs any "intrusion upon the privacy of the individual." Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d at 427. An abandoned car might "imped[e] traffic." Opperman, 428 U.S. at 369. It might also "constitute" a nuisance in the area in which it was parked." United States v. Brown, 787 F.2d 929, 932 (4th Cir. 1986). addition, whether the car is parked on the street or in "a [private] lot open to the public," it is at risk of "vandalism or theft." United States v. Kornegay, 885 F.2d 713, 716 (10th Cir. By seizing the car and "placing it in protective 1989). custody," not only do officers protect the vehicle, but they also "avoid [] claims" of liability for any damage. State v. Callaway, 106 Wis. 2d 503, 513, 317 N.W.2d 428 (1982). And

there is further reason to impound when the just-arrested driver is likely to "be indisposed for an indeterminate, and potentially lengthy, period," especially when "there is no one *immediately* on hand to take possession" of the car. *Coccia*, 446 F.3d at 240 (citation omitted). Finally, it is relevant whether, if a police department has adopted standardized procedures governing officers' discretion to seize vehicles, the impoundment complied with those procedures. *Id.* at 238.

The community-caretaker doctrine authorized the seizure in this case. Parked "right in the middle of the lane" between two rows of storage units, R.38:63; see A.126, Asboth's car threatened to obstruct traffic through the storage facility. See United States v. Cartwright, 630 F.3d 610, 615 (7th Cir. 2010). The car also blocked several storage sheds, R.38:63; A.126, creating not only an inconvenience for the renters of those units but also a risk to public safety, since the car was potentially obstructing emergency vehicles as well, see Brown, 787 F.2d at 932. The car was also a target for vandalism and theft. *Kornegay*, 885 F.2d at 716. In addition, Asboth was likely to be in police custody for a while, and there was no one else around to take the car. Anyway, it would not have been reasonable to make the car "the property owner's problem." A.119. Finally, the impoundment was justified under the officers' standardized policy, Coccia, 446 F.3d at 238, because its driver had just been arrested and the vehicle would otherwise have been left unattended. Thus, impounding the car was plainly a "bona fide community

caretaker function" and reasonable under this Court's balancing test. Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 23. Whether the police might have secretly hoped that the car would contain evidence of crime does not alter that conclusion. Id. ¶ 30.

Citing Bertine, 479 U.S. 367, Asboth urges this Court (1) to adopt a Fourth Amendment requirement that police and comply with standardized departments enact impoundment policies and (2) to hold that the seizure here was per se unreasonable under that rule. But *Bertine*, which mostly had to do with inventory searches, suggests at most that, if a police department has adopted "standardized procedures" governing officers' discretion to impound, then any impoundment "made pursuant" to those procedures is more likely to be reasonable. *Coccia*, 446 F.3d at 238. Hence, courts are not excused from considering whether, even "absent any police department policies," a given impoundment is reasonable under the community-caretaker doctrine. *State* v. Clark, 2003 WI App 121, ¶ 18, 20, 265 Wis. 2d 557, 666 N.W.2d 112 (emphasis added). While some post-Bertine cases differ from other jurisdictions over how relevant "standardized procedures" are to the reasonableness analysis, there is widespread agreement that, contrary to Asboth's view, "the absence of standardized procedures [does not] automatically render[] an impoundment unconstitutional." Sanders, 796 F.3d at 1248 (emphases added).

Even if the Fourth Amendment were read to mandate adoption of, and compliance with, "standardized"

impoundment policies, the seizure here was constitutional. One of the cases cited by Asboth shows, for example, that a policy directing officers to impound a vehicle whenever there is no one else immediately available to take responsibility is "sufficiently 'standardized," vesting officers with "residual judgment [to seize a vehicle] based on legitimate concerns related to the purposes of an impoundment." *United States v.* Petty, 367 F.3d 1009, 1012 (8th Cir. 2004); Pet. Br. 8 (citing *Petty*). Even less stringent, the policy approved in *Bertine* permitted officers to impound anytime the driver "is taken into custody." 479 U.S. at 368 n.1. Here, like the policy in *Petty*, but stricter than the one in *Bertine*, the Dodge County rules (which govern, since County officers made the arrest and directed the seizure) allow police to "arrange for towing of motor vehicles" "[w]hen the driver of a vehicle has been taken into custody by a deputy," and (2) as a result, "the vehicle would thereby be left unattended." A.133. Even if it applied, Beaver Dam's policy would pass muster as well, since it permits impoundments whenever the vehicle is in the officers' "lawful custody," A.129, tying officers' discretion to the standardized criteria of the community-caretaker doctrine.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Community-Caretaker Doctrine Justified The Seizure Of Asboth's Car
 - A. Impounding Asboth's Car Was Reasonable Because, If Abandoned, It Would Have Threatened Public Safety And Convenience
- 1. The Fourth Amendment protects against "unreasonable searches and seizures" and provides that "no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause." U.S. Const. amend. IV. But it "does not specify when a [] warrant must be obtained," *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 459 (2011), and "because the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is 'reasonableness,' the warrant requirement is subject to certain exceptions," *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006).

One exception covers searches and seizures authorized under the "community caretaker" doctrine. State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 14, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. "Police officers wear many hats." Matalonis, 366 Wis. 2d 443, ¶ 29 (citation omitted). Enforcing the law and investigating crime are not their only duties. They also must see to the many needs of their communities, protecting people and property "not just from criminals" but "from all types of losses"—sometimes "even those occasioned by our own [wrongdoing]." Id. (citation omitted). Since those tasks are "totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal state," Pinkard, 327 Wis.

2d 346, ¶ 16 (quoting $Cady\ v.\ Dombrowski$, 413 U.S. 433, 441 (1973)), an officer "serving as a community caretaker to protect persons and property may . . . perform warrantless searches and seizures" without offending the Fourth Amendment, Id. ¶ 14.

The community-caretaking test has three steps. First, a court asks whether a Fourth Amendment "search" or "seizure" has occurred.² Second, it considers whether the police carried out an objectively "bona fide community caretaker function." *Id.* ¶ 31. If it did, a court considers next "whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual." *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, \P 21. On the third step, a court generally looks to four factors: "(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the [intrusion], including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished." *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 41 (citation omitted). In all, the "ultimate touchstone" of community caretaking "reasonableness . . . in light of the facts and circumstances of the case." State v. Anderson, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 168, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987).

² This threshold inquiry is not at issue here, since the parties agree that Asboth's car was seized. *See* A.112.

Community caretaking "frequently" requires police officers to seize vehicles, and their authority to do so to remove a threat to "public safety and convenience" is "beyond challenge." Opperman, 428 U.S. at 369. This is for several reasons. An abandoned car might "imped[e] traffic." Id. It might also "constitute[] a nuisance in the area in which it was parked," when, for example, it inconveniences a business by blocking access to a lot. Brown, 787 F.2d at 932. In addition, whether the car is parked on the street or in "a [private] lot open to the public," it is at risk of "vandalism or theft." Kornegay, 885 F.2d at 716; see also Coccia, 446 F.3d at 240. So, by seizing the car and "placing it in protective custody," not only do officers protect the vehicle, but they also "avoid [] claims" of liability for any damage. Callaway, 106 Wis. 2d at 513; see also United States v. Staller, 616 F.2d 1284, 1289–90 (5th Cir. 1980) (reasonable to impound vehicle legally parked in commercial lot for this reason). Making each of these concerns more pressing, the likelihood that the driver will "be indisposed for an indeterminate, and potentially lengthy, period" often will leave the officers practically no choice, especially when "there is no one *immediately* on hand to take possession" of the car. Coccia, 446 F.3d at 240 (citation Finally, it is relevant whether, if a police omitted). department has adopted "standardized procedures" governing officers' discretion to impound vehicles, the impoundment was "made pursuant" to those procedures. *Id.* at 238.

The community-caretaker doctrine easily justified the seizure of the car in this case. Parked "right in the middle of the lane" between two rows of storage units, R.38:63, see also A.126, Asboth's car threatened to obstruct traffic through the storage facility, see Opperman, 428 U.S. at 369; accord United States v. Cartwright, 630 F.3d 610, 615 n.1 (7th Cir. 2010) (officers not "obliged to leave the car where it was stopped between two rows of parking spaces"). The car also blocked access to several storage sheds, R.38:63, A.126, creating not only a serious inconvenience for the renters of those units but also a risk to public safety, since the car was potentially in the way of emergency vehicles as well, see Brown, 787 F.2d at 932; see also, e.g., Fox6 News, "Fire Destroys Portion of Elkhorn Storage Facility, Cause Being Investigated" (Aug. 16, 2016) available at goo.gl/p1FPQw. Third, the car was a potential target for vandalism and theft, Kornegay, 885 F.2d at 716; A.126. In any event, the officers were short on alternatives: they were likely to have Asboth for an indeterminate period (since he was suspected of armed robbery), and there was no one else around to take the car. R.78:20-22; see Callaway, 106 Wis. 2d at 512-13. That the car was registered to someone else, a Madison resident, did not in the moment make the prospect of alternative arrangements any simpler. A.118–19 (owner lived "a somewhat long drive away"); R.38:39; see, e.g., Petty, 367 F.3d at 1012–13 (vehicle owned by rental company); *United States* v. Smith, 522 F.3d 305, 314 (3d Cir. 2008). And it would not

have been reasonable to make the car "the property owner's problem." A.119. Finally, the impoundment was justified under the officers' standardized policy, because its driver had just been arrested and the vehicle would otherwise have been left unattended. See infra p. 20 (explaining this in more detail). Given these objective indicia of reasonableness, impounding the car was plainly a "bona fide community caretaker function." Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 23.

For many of the same reasons, application of the community-caretaker doctrine's balancing inquiry is equally straightforward here. On the public-interest side, the seizure here served "strong[]...public need[s]," id. ¶ 41: it secured the owner's car and removed an obvious source of potential harm and inconvenience to the lot's owner, renters, and other members of the public to whom the facility was open. For those individuals, the unattended car would have threatened an "exigency." Id. ¶ 42 (citation omitted); see Pinkard, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 26 n.8 (making clear that identifying an "exigency" for these purposes is far less demanding than showing an exigency under the exigent-circumstances or "emergency" exception to the warrant requirement).

At the same time, the seizure imposed hardly any "restriction" on Asboth's "liberty interest." *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 40. Asboth did not seem to be the car's registered owner, *see Smith*, 522 F.3d at 314; *Petty*, 367 F.3d at 1012–13, so his interests in avoiding its prolonged impoundment appeared to be limited. Regardless, the "attendant

circumstances surrounding" the seizure, *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 41, show that, if anyone's liberty interests were at stake, it was those of the lot's owner and the public, to whom the abandoned car was a potential peril and nuisance, see *United States v. Arrocha*, 713 F.3d 1159, 1163 (8th Cir. 2013); Kornegay, 885 F.2d at 716. Further, there was no "overt authority and force displayed" to accomplish the seizure, Pinkard, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 41; Asboth already had been arrested and was sitting in the back of a police car. Supra p. 4. Additionally, the seizure was of an automobile, a fact that significantly reduces any reasonable "expectation of privacy." *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 56 (citation omitted). Finally, the "availability, feasibility and effectiveness of [any] alternatives" to the seizure here did not make it any more intrusive, id. ¶ 57, for the simple reason that the officers didnot have any effective, practicable alternatives that the law required them to consider. See supra pp. 15–16; Arrocha, 713 F.3d at 1164 ("Nothing in the Fourth Amendment requires a police department to allow an arrested person to arrange for another person to pick up his car to avoid impoundment and inventory.") (citation omitted); Bertine, 479 U.S. at 373 (police not required to offer a motorist an alternative to impoundment).

For these reasons, the seizure served a bona fide community-caretaker function, and the balancing inquiry supports the conclusion that the impoundment was reasonable. 3. Offering below "no serious argument that the seizure of the car" here "was not [a] bona fide community caretaker activity" under settled doctrine, A.112, Asboth makes three contentions here. Each of them fails.

First, Asboth argues that, before the police decide whether to seize a vehicle left on private property, they generally should "contact[] the owner" of the property "to determine whether it want[s] it removed." Pet. Br. 19. But the Fourth Amendment imposes no such requirement. See, e.g., Cartwright, 630 F.3d at 615 n.1 ("[T]he Fourth Amendment did not require the officers to explore [] alternatives [to impoundment] with the store owner."). To the contrary, "[p]olice may take protective custody of a vehicle when they have arrested its occupants, even if it is lawfully parked and poses no public safety hazard." United States v. Martin, 982 F.2d 1236, 1240 (8th Cir. 1993) (citation omitted) (upholding impoundment of car on private lot that did not follow a consultation with lot's owner). In Kornegay, for example, it was enough that leaving the abandoned vehicle "in the auction company's parking lot—a lot open to the public—could have subjected it to vandalism or theft." 885 F.2d at 716. It did not matter that the "auction company [had And in Staller, the not] requested its removal." Id.impoundment of a car on a private lot was held reasonable even though the "record [was] silent" regarding the lot owner's wishes. 616 F.3d at 1290 & n.9.

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